FILED SID J. WHITE NCT 20 1994 CLERK SUPREME COURT **Chief Deputy Clerk** 

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 84,373

### THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

#### Petitioner

vs.

# FERNANDO FERNANDEZ, LEONARDO FRANQUI, PABLO SAN MARTIN, and RICARDO GONZALEZ,

Respondents.

\*\*\*\*\*\*

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA CONFLICT CERTIFIED

# INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

RANDALL SUTTON Florida Bar No. 0766070 Assistant Attorney General Office of the Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs 401 N. W. 2nd Avenue, Suite N921 P.O. Box 013241 Miami, Florida 33101 (305) 377-5441

#### INTRODUCTION

Petitioner, the STATE OF FLORIDA, was the prosecution in the trial court, and the petitioner before the Third District Court of Appeal, and will be referred to as "Petitioner" or "the State". Respondents, FERNANDO FERNANDEZ, LEONARDO FRANQUI, PABLO SAN MARTIN, and RICARDO GONZALEZ, were the defendants at trial and the respondents in the district court. They will be referred to as "Respondents". The symbol "R." will be used to refer to the record on appeal. The symbol "S.R." will be used to refer to the supplemental record on appeal.<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The State has filed a motion to supplement the record contemporaneously with this brief.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondents were charged with the first degree murder of a law enforcement officer, North Miami Police Officer Steven Bauer, which occurred on January 3, 1992. (S.R. 1). If Respondents were convicted as charged, the State intended to seek the death penalty. (R. 23). At the penalty phase, the State intended to establish evidentiary support for a number of statutory aggravating circumstances as set forth in section 921.141(5), Florida Statutes (1992). The State also filed a motion, pursuant to § 921.141(7), Fla. Stat. (1992), to introduce victim impact evidence. (R. 23-27).

The Motion to Admit Victim Impact Evidence in the Penalty Phase argued that victim impact evidence was admissible since it is a type of evidence about the crime which is used by the sentencer in determining an appropriate sentence. The State further argued that victim impact evidence was not a nonstatutory aggravating circumstance and that victim impact evidence could not be admitted unless and until an enumerated statutory aggravating circumstance was found to exist. (R. 23-26).

Respondents filed a memorandum of law in opposition to the State's motion. (R. 23-44). Respondents also filed a motion to adopt an order of a Broward County Circuit Court Judge which

-2-

declared the statute to be unconstitutional.<sup>2</sup> (R. 45-46). On March 4, 1994, a hearing was held on the State's motion, and at its conclusion the trial court reserved ruling. (R. 80-122, 118).

On March 15, 1994, the trial court entered an order finding § 921.141(7), Fla. Stat. (1992), unconstitutional. The trial court ruled that the admission of victim impact evidence would establish a nonstatutory aggravating circumstance. As such, the court concluded that the statute violated the right to due process of law, conferred by Art. I, § 9, Fla. Const., as well as the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution. The trial court also found the application of the statute to the instant case would violate the <u>ex post facto</u> clauses of both the Florida and United States Constitutions because the statute was enacted after the present crime was committed. (R. 70-79).

On April 13, 1994 the State filed a petition for writ of common law certiorari in the Third District Court of Appeal. (R. 1-21). During the pendency of the certiorari action, on June 2, 1994, the jury returned a verdict finding Respondents guilty as charged. (S.R. 6, 23, 37, 58). The penalty phase proceedings were scheduled to begin on September 19, 1994. (R. 147). A response to the petition was served on July 4, 1994. (R. 149-

-3-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This order was reversed in <u>Maxwell v. State</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D1706 (Fla. 4th DCA August 10, 1994).

186). On July 18, 1994, the district court denied the petition stating:

It appearing that the crimes for which the respondents are to be sentenced occurred prior to the effective date of Section 921.143(7), Florida Statutes 1992, relief sought herein is denied.

(R. 187).

 $clarification^3$ and for motion The State filed а certification on August 2, 1994. The motion requested that the district court certify the question as one of great public importance. (R. 188-195). On August 11, 1994, the State filed a supplement to its motion for certification, asserting conflict between the Third District's holding and State v. Maxwell, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D1706 (Fla. 4th DCA August 10, 1994). (R. 202-211). On September 7, 1994, the Third District entered an order certifying to the Supreme Court of Florida that its decision was in conflict with Maxwell. (R. 220).

On September 9, 1994, the State filed a notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction. (R. 221). On September 20, 1994, this court entered an order postponing the decision on jurisdiction and setting a briefing schedule. (R. 222). On September 23, 1994, after a penalty-phase trial in which victim impact evidence was not introduced, a jury recommended that

-4-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The motion for clarification was addressed to an apparent typographical error in the opinion which referred to § 921.143(7), Fla. Stat., rather than § 921.141(7), the section in dispute.

Respondents Fernandez, Gonzalez and Franqui be sentenced to death. (S.R. 6, 23, 58). Respondent San Martin received a life recommendation. (S.R. 37). On October 11, 1994, Judge Rodolfo Sorondo sentenced all four respondents to death. (S.R. 21, 35, 56, 76).

# POINT ON APPEAL

WHETHER THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT SECTION 921.141(7), FLA. STAT., THE "VICTIM IMPACT" STATUTE, COULD NOT BE APPLIED TO RESPONDENTS' TRIAL WHERE THE MURDER WAS COMMITTED PRIOR TO THE ENACTMENT OF THE STATUTE WITHOUT VIOLATING EX POST FACTO PRINCIPLES, WHERE THE STATUTE IS NOT SUBSTANTIVE IN NATURE?

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court declined to vacate the order of the trial court, holding simply that the victim impact statute did not apply to a the sentencing phase of a murder trial where the crime was committed prior to the statute's enactment. The trial court had held that victim impact evidence was irrelevant to capital sentencing proceedings, that the statutory subsection providing for the admission of such evidence created an unconstitutional nonstatutory aggravating circumstance, and that the statute was thus substantive and therefore in any event could not apply to crimes, such as the one herein, which were committed after its enactment. In the decision with which the Third District has certified conflict, the Fourth District found that the statute was evidentiary in nature and was thus constitutional, and further, could be applied retroactively.

The State submits that under controlling federal and state law, the victim impact statute is merely evidentiary in nature and as such, it may be properly applied to the case at hand without violating <u>ex post facto</u> principles.

The State further submits that recent precedent of both this court and the United States Supreme Court clearly hold that victim impact evidence is both relevant to capital sentencing determinations, and that such evidence is constitutionally

-7-

permissible, if authorized under state law. The provision at issue here is just such a law.

Finally, although victim impact evidence does not directly prove any aggravating circumstance, it does provide the sentencer with a context in which to place the defendant's crime. It has long been the law of this state that evidence may be admitted for the purpose of placing the crime in context even though it does not directly prove an aggravating factor. Such evidence does not create a nonstatutory aggravating circumstance and may be properly received.

The judgment below should be reversed, and the conflicting decision of the Fourth District should be approved.

-8-

#### ARGUMENT

THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT SECTION 921.141(7), FLA. STAT., THE "VICTIM IMPACT" STATUTE, COULD NOT BE APPLIED TO RESPONDENTS' TRIAL WHERE THE MURDER WAS COMMITTED PRIOR TO THE ENACTMENT OF THE STATUTE WITHOUT VIOLATING EX POST FACTO PRINCIPLES, WHERE THE STATUTE IS NOT SUBSTANTIVE IN NATURE.

#### A. INTRODUCTION

Both the trial court and the Third District Court of Appeal held that § 921.141(7), Fla. Stat., the "victim impact" statute, could not be applied to Respondents. The Fourth District held the statute could be applied to similarly situated Chester Maxwell. <u>Maxwell v. State</u>, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D1706 (Fla. 4th DCA August 10, 1994).

Third District determined that the statute did not The apply to Respondents because the crime was committed after its effective date. (R. 187). Although the court did not set forth the basis of its conclusion, its opinion must be viewed as an trial court's reasoning. approval of the Ex post facto principles would prevent retroactive application only if the statute were assumed to be substantive in nature. Further, the district court certified that its opinion conflicted with In Maxwell, the Fourth District rejected the findings Maxwell. of the trial court that the statute established a nonstatutory

-9-

aggravating circumstance and that the statute could not be applied retroactively.<sup>4</sup>

The trial court below had concluded: (a) that victim impact evidence was irrelevant to the proof of any permissible aggravating circumstance; (b) that the statute established an impermissible nonstatutory aggravating circumstance and thus violated Respondents' due process rights; and (c) that because the statute established an aggravating circumstance, albeit an impermissible one, it was substantive rather than procedural and thus could not be applied here, where the crime was committed subsequent to its enactment. (R. 70-79).

Although the Third District's ruling was apparently based upon <u>ex post facto</u> grounds, its holding appears also to approve the trial court's other conclusions. The State will therefore first present an analysis of retroactivity, followed by a discussion of the interrelated issues of whether victim impact evidence is relevant and whether the statute establishes an aggravating circumstance.

As a preliminary matter, it should be remembered that when examining the constitutionality of a legislative enactment, the courts must presume that the legislature intended a

<sup>\* &</sup>lt;u>Maxwell</u> also rejected the claim, not explicitly raised below, that § 921.141(7) impermissibly invades the rule-making province of this court. Such contention is without merit. <u>Booker v.</u> State, 397 So. 2d 910 (Fla. 1987).

constitutional result. Sandlin v. Criminal Justice Standards & <u>Training Commission</u>, 531 So. 2d 1344, 1346 (Fla. 1988). Moreover, courts will avoid declaring a statute unconstitutional if such statute can be fairly construed in a constitutional manner. Id. Such a construction is possible here. B. THE APPLICATION OF § 921.141(7), FLA. STAT., TO RESPONDENTS DOES NOT VIOLATE EX POST FACTO PRINCIPLES.

The Third District Court of Appeal declined to grant the State's petition for common law certiorari, finding that § 921.141(7), Fla. Stat., did not apply to Respondent's crime because it was committed before the enactment of the statute. The Fourth District reached a contrary result in <u>Maxwell</u>, finding that the section does not purport to affect personal rights, but only relates to the admission of evidence, citing <u>Glendening v. State</u>, 536 So. 2d 212 (Fla. 1988).<sup>5</sup> <u>Maxwell</u>, at D1706. Although the amendment to § 921.141 became effective July 1, 1992, after Respondents murdered Officer Bauer, its application to Respondents' penalty phase trial would not have violated <u>ex post facto</u> principles. The State would submit that the Fourth District's interpretation should be approved.

In <u>Glendening</u>, this court recognized two formulations for determining whether a law violates <u>ex post facto</u> principles. The first was derived from <u>Dobbert v. Florida</u>, 432 U.S. 282, 97 S. Ct. 2290, 53 L. Ed. 2d 344 (1977):

> [A]ny statute which punishes as a crime an act previously committed, which was innocent when done; which makes more burdensome the punishment for a crime, after its commission, or which deprives one charged with crime of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The trial court below conceded that if it had not found the statute to create an impermissible aggravating factor, it would apply retroactively. (R. 78). The State submits that that underlying conclusion was error, as discussed at length, <u>infra</u>, pp. 17-26.

any defense available according to law at the time when the act was committed, is prohibited as *ex post facto*.

Dobbert, 432 U.S. at 292; Glendening at 214.

Section 921.141(7), Fla. Stat. provides:

Victim impact evidence - Once the evidence of the has provided prosecutor aggravating more existence of one or circumstances as described in subsection (5), prosecution introduce, and may the subsequently argue, victim impact evidence. designed evidence shall be to Such demonstrate the victim's uniqueness as an individual human being and the resultant loss to the community's members by the victim's Characterizations and opinions about death. the crime, the defendant, and the appropriate sentence shall not be permitted as a part of victim impact evidence.

Nothing in this provison "punishes as a crime an act previously committed, which was innocent when done". The crime at issue is its illegality is unaffected by the first degree murder; "makes more Likewise, nothing in the statute amendment. burdensome the punishment for a crime, after its commission"; more punishment, assuming the existence of one or the aggravating factors enumerated under § 921.141(5) which outweigh Finally, mitigating circumstances, was and remains death. subsection (7) cannot in any respect be construed to deprive Respondents "of any defense available according to law at the time when the act was committed". Thus, under Dobbert, this statute cannot be said to be ex post facto.

-13-

The second formulation recognized in <u>Glendening</u> is found in <u>Miller v. Florida</u>, 482 U.S. 423, 107 S. Ct. 2446, 96 L. Ed. 2d 351 (1987):

> Every law that alters the legal rules of evidence, and receives less, or different testimony, than the law required at the time of the commission of the offense, in order to convict the offender violates the prohibition against ex post facto laws.

Miller, 482 U.S. at 429; Glendening, at 214 (emphasis supplied).

In <u>Glendening</u>, the defendant asserted that the retroactive application of the child hearsay statute to his case violated <u>Miller</u>'s proscription. This court, however, disagreed. The rule in <u>Miller</u> applies, as the highlighted portion of the quote above suggests, only to those laws which "'change the ingredients of the offence [sic] or the ultimate facts necessary to establish guilt.'" <u>Miller</u>, 482 U.S. at 433 (quoting <u>Hopt v. Utah</u>, 110 U.S. 574, 590, 4 S. Ct. 202, 28 L. Ed. 262 (1884)). On the other hand, changes in the <u>admission</u> of evidence have been held to be procedural. <u>Glendening</u>, at 215.

Thus in <u>Hopt</u>, the law at the time of the murder in question prevented convicted felons from testifying. Prior to trial the disability was abolished, and a convicted felon testfied against Hopt at his trial, resulting in his conviction. The Supreme Court rejected Hopt's <u>ex post facto</u> claim. Likewise in <u>Thompson</u> <u>V. Missouri</u>, 171 U.S. 380, 18 S. Ct. 922, 43 L. Ed. 204 (1898),

-14-

the Missouri Supreme Court reversed Thompson's murder conviction, because it was based upon certain inadmissible letters. Before retrial the law was changed, and the letters were again admitted against him, resulting in conviction. The U.S. Supreme Court rejected his <u>ex post facto</u> claim. In light of <u>Hopt</u> and <u>Thompson</u>, this court concluded in <u>Glendening</u> that the child hearsay law was also procedural and did not affect substantial personal rights because:

> As in Hopt, "[t]he crime for which the present defendant was indicted, the prescribed punishment therefor, the and quantity or the degree of proof necessary to establish his guilt, all remain unaffected by" the enactment of section 90.803(23). As "left in Thompson, section 90.803(23) unimpaired the right of the jury to determine the sufficiency or effect of the evidence declared admissible, and did not disturb the fundamental rule that the state . . . must overcome the presumption of innocence, and establish quilt beyond a reasonable doubt."

Glendening, at 215.

As in <u>Glendening</u>, the statute in question here is procedural and does not affect substantial personal rights. As in <u>Hopt</u>, the degree of proof remains the same. To obtain a sentence of death, the state must still prove that one or more of the aggravating factors found at § 921.141(5) exist, and that they are not outweighed by any mitigating circumstances. As in <u>Thompson</u>, the statute does not disturb or impair the sentencer's right to determine the suffiency or effect of the evidence; indeed victim impact evidence may not even be admitted until the

-15-

State has admitted evidence establishing an aggravating circumstance. § 921.141(7). Thus under <u>Miller</u> Respondents' <u>ex</u> post facto claim must be rejected.

Finally the State would submit that, assuming, <u>arguendo</u>, the admission of victim impact evidence could be considered to affect Respondent's substantive rights, any change in the law to that effect ocurred not in 1992, but in 1988, with the adoption of Art. I, § 16(b), Fla. Const., which provides:

> Victims of crime or their lawful representatives, including the next of kin of homicide victims, are entitled to the right . . to be heard when relevant, at all crucial states of criminal proceedings, to the extent that these rights do not interfere with the constitutional rights of the accused.

Thus § 921.141(7) even assuming some substantive right were affected by the admission of victim impact evidence, the statute would remain a procedural provision which serves only to implement the substantive terms of the Florida Constitution, which were in effect two years before the murder of Officer Bauer. Dobbert; Miller.

The Third District erred in finding that the § 921.141, Fla. Stat., does not apply retroactively. <u>Glendenning;</u> <u>Dobbert; Miller; Maxwell</u>. Its judgment should be reversed, and that of the Fourth District in Maxwell approved.

-16-

C. SECTION 921.141(7), FLA. STAT., DOES NOT ESTABLISH AN IMPERMISSIBLE NONSTATUTORY AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE.

Although not discussed in the Third District's opinion, the trial court's ruling that § 921.141(7) was unconstitutional was premised upon its concerns of relevance and its conclusion that the statute created an additional aggravating circumstance. However, explicitly rejected the Fourth District these contentions in Maxwell. An examination of the statute itself and this court's historical interpretation of Florida's capital sentencing provisions shows that § 921.141(7) does not establish an aggravating circumstance. Not only does the statute merely permit the admission of victim impact evidence during the sentencing proceeding, such evidence is clearly relevant to the sentencing determination. Maxwell, at D1706.

The presentation of a broad range of evidence has been integral to Florida's capital sentencing scheme since its inception:

In the proceeding, evidence may be presented as to any matter that the court deems relevant to the nature of the crime and the character of the defendant and shall include matters relating any of the aggravating or mitigating to circumstances enumerated in subsections (5) and (6). Any such evidence which the court deems to have probative value may be received, regardless of its admissibility under the exclusionary rules of evidence, provided the defendant is accorded a fair opportunity to rebut any hearsay statements. this However, subsection shall not be construed to authorize the introduction of any evidence secured in violation of the

Constitution of the United States or the Constitution of the State of Florida.

§ 921.141(1), Fla. Stat. (emphasis supplied).<sup>6</sup>

Section 921.141(1) has long been interpreted by this court to allow the jury to hear evidence "which will aid it in understanding the facts of the case in order that it may render an appropriate advisory sentence," <u>Teffeteller v. State</u>, 495 So. 2d 744, 745 (Fla. 1986), or which will allow the sentencer "to engage in a character analysis of the defendant to ascertain whether the ultimate penalty is called for in his or her particular case." <u>Elledge v. State</u>, 346 So. 2d 998, 1001 (Fla. 1977).

In Payne v. Tennessee, 501 U.S. \_\_\_, 111 S. Ct. 2597, 115 L. Ed. 2d 720 (1991), the U.S. Supreme Court reiterated the principles enunciated above that a broad range of evidence may be presented to humanize the defendant in a capital sentencing proceeding:

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