017

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 84,373

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

V

FERNANDO FERNANDEZ, LEONARDO FRANQUI, PABLO SAN MARTIN, and RICARDO GONZALEZ,

Respondents.

FILED
SID J. WAITE
DEC 22 1994
CLERK, SUPREME COURT
BY—Chief Deputy Clerk

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA CONFLICT CERTIFIED

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS ON THE MERITS

BENEDICT P. KUEHNE, ESQ.

SALE & KUEHNE, P.A. 601 Brickell Key Drive Suite 500 Miami, Florida 33131-2651 Telephone: 305/789-5989 Fax: 305/789-5987 Counsel for Respondents

###

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

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Third District Court of Appeal correctly denied the state's petition for common law certiorari. The lower tribunal's order finding the victim impact statute unconstitutional as applied to this case was correct. Not only did the state fail to show that the trial

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Respondent San Martin received a jury recommendation of life (SR 37).

This court denied respondents' motion to dismiss for mootness in an order entered December 2, 1994.

court's order departed from the essential requirements of the law, but the state also failed to discharge its burden of demonstrating entitlement to certiorari relief. Consequently, the decision of the Third District must be affirmed.

On the merits, the Third District correctly ruled that the victim impact statute could not be applied to conduct which occurred prior to the effective date of the statute. That result was required by the *ex post facto* protections of the United States and Florida Constitutions. Although not ruled on by the Third District, the lower tribunal found several other constitutional infirmities during an exhaustive review of the victim impact statute. The victim impact legislation gives the jury and judge unguided discretion to impose the death penalty in an arbitrary and capricious manner. In addition, the statute is vague, overbroad and incapable of a clear and understandable application. Consequently, it violates the due process guarantees of the Florida and United States Constitutions.

Finally, the victim impact statute infringes upon the exclusive right of the Florida Supreme Court to regulate practice and procedure, and is therefore unconstitutional in violation of Art. V, §2 of the Florida Constitution.

#### ARGUMENT

THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY DENIED COMMON LAW CERTIORARI IN RULING THE "VICTIM IMPACT" STATUTE COULD NOT BE APPLIED TO A MURDER WHICH OCCURRED PRIOR TO THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE STATUTE WITHOUT OFFENDING CONSTITUTIONAL PRINCIPLES PROHIBITING EX POST FACTO LEGISLATION.

The Third District Court of Appeal, like the trial court before it, ruled the "victim impact" statute could not be constitutionally applied to a charged homicide which occurred prior to the effective date of the statute. The trial court ruled squarely on the

merits of the law, finding that applying the "victim impact" statute to respondents' homicide prosecution violated constitutional principles prohibiting ex post facto legislation. The Third District did not necessarily reach the merits of the case, concluding instead that the state's petition for writ of common law certiorari should be denied because "the crimes for which the respondents are to be sentenced occurred prior to the effective date of" the statute. The conflict which led to this conflict certification arose because the Fourth District Court of Appeal, in a case raising a similar issue, concluded the "victim impact" statute could be applied to a prosecution involving a murder which preceded the enactment of the statute.

## A. Denial Of Certiorari Review Does Not Constitute A Ruling On The Merits Of The Issue Raised.

In reviewing the conflict certified by the Third District, this court must first determine whether the merits of the conflict issue should even be reached. That is because the record in this case does not clearly indicate the Third District actually addressed the constitutional issue raised by the state's petition for common law certiorari. It is more than conceivable the appellate court's ruling was nothing more than a conclusion the state had not discharged its heavy burden of establishing entitlement to common law certiorari. In this respect, respondents disagree with the state's assertion that the appellate "opinion must be viewed as an approval of the trial court's reasoning." (Initial Brief of Petitioner, at 9).

Common law certiorari to review a non-final order in a criminal case is an extraordinary remedy, available only under very limited circumstances. Review of a trial court's ruling while the trial is ongoing ordinarily does not fit within the limited cases for which review by certiorari is available. As pointed out in the 1977 Committee Notes to

Rule 9.130 of the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure,

[i]t is extremely rare that erroneous interlocutory rulings can be corrected by resort to common law certiorari. It is anticipated that since the most urgent interlocutory orders are appealable under this rule, there will be very few cases where common law certiorari will provide relief.

Certiorari is an exceptional remedy available only to review those non-final orders that (1) constitute a substantial departure from the essential requirements of law, (2) cause a material injury to a party throughout subsequent proceedings, and (3) cause an injury for which there will be no adequate remedy after final judgment. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>State v. Pettis</u>, 520 So. 2d 250 (Fla. 1988); <u>Dairyland Ins. Co. v. McKenzie</u>, 251 So. 2d 887 (Fla. 1st DCA 1971); <u>Gulf Cities Gas Corp. v. Cihak</u>, 201 So. 2d 250 (Fla. 2d DCA 1967). In <u>Combs v. State</u>, 436 So. 2d 93, 96 (Fla. 1983), this court limited application of certiorari to those cases where "there has been a violation of a clearly established principle of law resulting in a miscarriage of justice."

As the following analysis demonstrates, the state in this case failed to satisfy the restrictive standard governing certiorari review. The state's petition sought review of a trial court order which declared the victim impact statute unconstitutional as applied. The state's primary argument in the certiorari proceeding was that victim impact evidence is not an aggravating circumstance warranting imposition of the death penalty, but that it could nonetheless be used so a jury can better weigh the life or death decision during a penalty phase proceeding. The state's concession that victim impact evidence is not an enumerated aggravating circumstance for purposes of a penalty phase proceeding was itself justification for denial of certiorari review.

Florida precedent has heretofore held that victim impact evidence is **not** admissible in capital sentencing proceedings. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>Burns v. State</u>, 609 So. 2d 600 (Fla. 1992); <u>Owen v. State</u>, 560 So. 2d 207 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 498 U.S. 855, 111 S. Ct. 152 (1990) (testimony from victim's family on impact of murder could not be used as aggravating factor during death penalty phase); <u>Jackson v. Dugger</u>, 547 So. 2d 1197 (Fla. 1989) (impact of police officer's death upon his department and community was

Bespondents urged the Third District to conclude certiorari was not even available because the trial had already commenced and the parties were awaiting completion of the sentencing phase. In Weir v. State, 591 So. 2d 593 (Fla. 1991), this court held that a district court has no certiorari jurisdiction to review an order granting a defendant's motion in limine filed prior to trial but not ruled upon until trial commenced. The court noted that certiorari review was not intended to

approve the interruption of a trial to allow review of a trial judge's ruling. Allowing such interlocutory petitions could inhibit the orderly trial of cases and could lead to incessant petitions for certiorari. If the State wants a ruling resulting from a pretrial motion reviewed, it must secure an order on that motion prior to trial.

<sup>&</sup>lt;u>Id</u>. at 594. Based on the <u>Weir</u> rationale, certiorari review was not appropriate.

impermissible victim impact evidence); Patterson v. State, 513 So. 2d 1257, 1263 (Fla. 1978); Grossman v. State, 525 So. 2d 833 (Fla. 1988), cert. denied, 489 U.S. 1071, 109 S. Ct. 1354 (1989); Jackson v. State, 498 So. 2d 906 (Fla. 1986). Not a single Florida court has held to the contrary.

Take, for example, the state's citation to <u>Stein v. State</u>, 632 So. 2d 1361 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, \_\_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 115 S. Ct. 111 (1994). The state claims <u>Stein</u> approved the admissibility of victim impact **evidence** in a penalty phase proceeding. That is far from the case, since <u>Stein</u> involved a substantially dissimilar situation arising from a prosecutor's **argument** during the penalty phase that the victim was married and had a child. The prosecutor did not comment on the family or community impact of the homicide, but made an argumentative portrayal of undisputed evidence about the victim's marital and parental status. <sup>7</sup> This court, finding the prosecutor's comment did not rise to a level of reversible error, offered this rationale, at 1367:

Finally, Stein contends that the trial judge erred in denying Stein's request for a mistrial after the prosecutor made certain statements to the jury in his closing argument. Specifically, Stein claims that the prosecutor sought to invoke sympathy for the victims by stating to the jury that victim Saunders was married and the father of a child. We find these brief humanizing remarks do not constitute grounds for reversal and that, if improper, they were harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>DiGuilio</u>. <u>See also Payne v. Tennessee</u>, 111 S. Ct. 2597 (1991) (in the majority of cases, victim impact evidence serves entirely legitimate purposes).

Plainly, that prosecutor's comment did not extend to arguing the subjective impact of the victim's death on the victim's family, which is what the victim impact statute is designed

 $<sup>^{2/}</sup>$  A prosecutor's comments do not constitute evidence. Fla. Std. Jury Instr. (Crim.) §1.02.

to permit. The <u>Stein</u> decision, moreover, did not approve for use by the Florida courts, either expressly or implicitly, the <u>Payne</u> holding that victim impact evidence is admissible.

At the time the Third District considered the state's certiorari petition, this court had never upheld the use of victim impact evidence in a penalty phase proceeding. This court has not yet embraced the <u>Payne</u> rule as abrogating a long line of Florida precedent. The most that could be said is that <u>Stein</u> recognized that a lawyer's comment, not evidence, which correctly describes the victim in a factual manner is not reversible error, especially when the evidence is otherwise overwhelming. <u>Stein v. State</u>. That decision is consistent with precedent existing at the time of the Third District ruling. Seen in that light, the Third District may well have denied certiorari review because the trial court's ruling did not depart from the substantial requirements of law.

The only case relied on by the state as supporting the argument for common law certiorari review is Payne v. Tennessee, 501 U.S. 808, 111 S. Ct. 2597 (1991), in which the U.S. Supreme Court held victim impact evidence may not constitute a per se violation of the Eighth Amendment. In so holding, the Supreme Court overruled the per se rule of Booth v. Maryland, 482 U.S. 496, 107 S. Ct. 2529 (1987), and South Carolina v. Gathers, 490 U.S. 805, 199 S. Ct. 2207 (1989), which previously held that evidence and argument relating to the impact of the victim's death on the victim's family violated the Eighth Amendment.

<u>Payne</u> does not establish an absolute rule of law regarding the admissibility of victim impact evidence, and does not come close to giving a constitutional opinion on its use in a Florida capital sentencing proceeding. Indeed, the <u>Payne</u> decision arose in the context of the Tennessee capital punishment scheme, an altogether different statutory

procedure which is not at all similar to Florida's "weighing" statute. In Florida, the penalty phase statute itself and the accompanying procedural protections limit the aggravating circumstances the jury and judge can consider to those found in §921.141(5). The jury and the judge are required to weigh the aggravating circumstances found to exist beyond a reasonable doubt against any statutory and non-statutory mitigating factors when determining if the death penalty is an appropriate punishment. The Tennessee statute, on the other hand, allows the jury to consider all relevant evidence of an aggravating or mitigating nature.

 noted the following anomalous result:

The state could only proceed to trial with its ability to present the case significantly impaired. Should the defendant be acquitted, the principles of double jeopardy prevent the state from seeking review; thus, the prejudice resulting from the earlier order would be irreparable.

520 So. 2d at 253.

The concerns addressed in <u>Pettis</u> were not present in this case. At the trial level the state offered no compelling or complete proffer of the evidence it intended to present under the rubric of "victim impact." The state had not shown that a death penalty recommendation could not be obtained without the victim impact evidence. As the case developed, all respondents were sentenced to death without consideration of victim impact evidence. The lower tribunal's exclusion of the unarticulated victim impact evidence could not have significantly impaired the state's ability to proceed against any of the respondents. Plainly, the state was able to introduce all evidence of aggravating circumstances as permitted in §921.141(5), and was able to make legitimate arguments in favor of the death penalty. The exclusion of victim impact evidence which is not an element of the death penalty equation could have had no substantial impact on the penalty phase proceeding.

For these reasons, among others, the Third District concluded that the lower tribunal's ruling did not rise to the level of a "miscarriage of justice. "Because the state's petition for writ of certiorari did not establish the required departure from the essential requirements of law resulting in a miscarriage of justice, see Ward v. State, 636 So. 2d 68 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994) (scope of review on certiorari is narrower than on plenary appeal), the Third District's ruling can be understood to mean the state did not satisfy this

jurisdictional prerequisite.

### B. The Victim Impact Statute Is Unconstitutional.

The victim impact statute is unconstitutional in that it gives the jury and judge unguided discretion to impose the death penalty in an arbitrary and capricious manner. That was the conclusion of the trial court in this case. That ruling was consistent with Florida law and constitutional principles, as acknowledged by the Third District's denial of certiorari review.

The Florida Legislature enacted the victim impact statute in response to the United States Supreme Court decision in <a href="Payne v. Tennessee">Payne</a> held the Eighth Amendment does not constitute a per se prohibition against the consideration of victim impact evidence in a capital sentencing proceeding, thus overruling the per se rule of <a href="Booth v. Maryland">Booth v. Maryland</a> and <a href="South Carolina v. Gathers">South Carolina v. Gathers</a>. Notwithstanding its intentions, the Florida Legislature's response to the <a href="Payne">Payne</a> decision is in irreconcilable conflict with the constitutionality of Florida's capital sentencing procedure because the legislature overlooked the fact that <a href="Payne">Payne</a> dealt with an altogether different sentencing scheme, one in which all relevant aggravating and mitigating evidence is statutorily considered in determining whether the death penalty should be imposed.

Florida's capital sentencing procedure is materially different from the Tennessee procedure reviewed in <u>Payne</u>. The Florida death penalty scheme requires a judge and jury to weigh specifically enumerated aggravating circumstances against enumerated and unenumerated mitigating factors. §921.141(6); <u>Rogers v. State</u>, 511 So. 2d 526, 534 (Fla. 1987), <u>cert. denied</u>, 484 U.S. 1020, 108 S. Ct. 733 (1988) (defendant is free to present evidence of statutory mitigating circumstances and any other factor which "in fairness or

in totality of the defendant's life or character may be considered as extenuating or reducing the degree of moral culpability for the crime committed"). After considering the aggravating circumstances which have been proven beyond a reasonable doubt and all mitigating circumstances offered by the defense, the Florida procedure requires the jury to advise the sentencing court whether the defendant should be sentenced to death or life imprisonment. §921.141(2). The trial court is the final arbiter of the penalty. §921.141(3).

The Tennessee capital sentencing law is of a very different character in that it allows consideration of all aggravating and mitigating circumstances which pertain to the crime and the defendant:

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